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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  This is a meeting

          3  of the Economic Development Committee and I have an

          4  opening statement.

          5                 My name is Council Member Thomas

          6  White, Jr.  I'm the Chair of the Economic

          7  Development Committee, and I would like to welcome

          8  you to this oversight hearing on Intro 421, which

          9  seeks to amend the Administrative Code of the City

         10  of New York in relation to authorizing and an

         11  application for redesignation of certain areas

         12  within the City of New York as empire zones.

         13                 Today's hearing will touch upon the

         14  background of the empire zone program, as well as

         15  shed light on how the April '05 legislative reforms

         16  to the empire zones program support the continued

         17  economic development of those impoverished areas of

         18  the City that are designated as empire zones.

         19                 This hearing will look at the

         20  proposed redesignation of the block and lots of the

         21  11 current New York City empire zones. The reasons

         22  for the proposed redesignation as well as gain

         23  insight into how business within the empire zones

         24  will be affected by these redesignations.

         25                 The Committee will also look at
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          2  whether these redesignations will serve to produce

          3  more jobs and more area investment and what role, if

          4  any, that the City Council can play in order to aid

          5  the Administration of management of this program.

          6                 The first of the panel to testify

          7  will be Carl Hum of the Mayor's Office of Industrial

          8  and Manufacturing Businesses. Ms. Lee Miller from

          9  SBS and Mr -- okay, but I'd like to recognize Mr.

         10  Andrew Schwartz from Small Business who is sitting

         11  in the audience.

         12                 Mr. Hum?

         13                 MR. HUM:  The floor is mine?

         14                 Thank you very much, Chairman White,

         15  for the kind introduction.

         16                 Good morning, Chairman, and the

         17  Members of the Committee of Economic Development.

         18  My name is Carl Hum, and I am the Director of the

         19  Mayor's Office of Manufacturing and Industrial

         20  Businesses.

         21                 To my right is Lee Miller who is the

         22  empire zones coordinator.  I want to thank you for

         23  the opportunity to testify before you today on the

         24  merits of Intro No. 421  which will authorize New

         25  York City's application for the re- designation of
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          2  certain areas within New York City as empire zones.

          3                 As you know, the empire zone program

          4  was created by the New York State Legislature in

          5  1986 to benefit certain areas of New York State that

          6  face long- term unemployment and pervasive poverty.

          7  The program is designed to stimulate private

          8  investment, business development and job creation

          9  through a variety of financial incentives such as

         10  wage tax credits, real property tax credits, state

         11  sales tax credits and investment tax credits.

         12                 There are 72 empire zones throughout

         13  the state.  New York City currently has 11 empire

         14  zones.  The Hunts Point and port Morris Empire Zones

         15  in the Bronx; the East Brooklyn, North Brooklyn

         16  which also includes the Brooklyn Navy Yard and the

         17  Southwest Brooklyn Empire Zones comprise the third

         18  zones in the Borough of Brooklyn.  Far Rockaway and

         19  South Jamaica empire zones are in Queens.  In Staten

         20  Island we have the North and West Shore

         21  Empire Zones.  Finally in Manhattan, we have the

         22  East New York Empire Zones and the most recently

         23  created thanks to the Council's help, the Chinatown

         24  and Lower East Size Empire Zone.

         25                 Since its inception, over 2,000
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          2  businesses have been empire zone certified which in

          3  turn created over 10,000 jobs and millions of

          4  dollars in investment.  Although it's a state

          5  program, the program is administered by the locality

          6  and for New York City's case that means that the

          7  Department of Small Business Services administers

          8  the program in partnership with a group of local

          9  economic development organizations some of which you

         10  may be hearing from this morning.

         11                 This past March the program was

         12  transferred to the Mayor's Office of Industrial and

         13  Manufacturing Businesses to take full advantage of

         14  the recently established industrial business zones

         15  which will spur a richer set of incentives for these

         16  businesses.

         17                 In April of 2005, the New York State

         18  Legislature made significant changes to the empire

         19  zone program which are codified in the New York

         20  State General Municipal Law and which brings us here

         21  today.  In addition to extending the program

         22  benefits to June 30, 2011, the Legislature now

         23  requires that all individual empire zones consist of

         24  no more than three distinct, non- contiguous areas

         25  except for areas previously designated as
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          2  development zones.  In plain English, what that

          3  means is that in each empire zone, the benefits

          4  cannot be concentrated in more than three separate

          5  areas.

          6

          7                 This is a major change in policy and

          8  I'll explain to you exactly why.  Because the empire

          9  zone program is a state program, the State

         10  Legislature determines the geographic area or

         11  neighborhood, if you will, where a empire zone will

         12  be designated and that's as result of the locality

         13  applying to be designated as a  empire zone.  But

         14  mind you the specific boundaries of each empire zone

         15  is left up to the locality to determine.  Many

         16  localities around the State have capitalized on this

         17  opportunity to create Zones that consisted of

         18  numerous pockets within a vast area. So long as the

         19  pockets add up to no more than two square miles,

         20  which is a restriction or a requirement rather in

         21  the enabling state legislation, the locality was in

         22  compliance with the law.

         23                 Let me give you an example of that.

         24  In Buffalo County, the empire zone was designated in

         25  the county.  What happened was that they had created
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          2  an empire zone that consisted of 130 different

          3  pockets that were dotted all around Buffalo County.

          4  What that created really was a kind of scattered

          5  shot approach in terms of economic development.  The

          6  changes that were made in regard to the enabling

          7  state legislation really addresses the scattered

          8  nature of the empire zones and really requires folks

          9  to really focus in on the empire zone and benefits.

         10                 No.  A pocket is a block.  It could

         11  be a block.  In some areas in Buffalo and I hate to

         12  use an example of Buffalo but it really describes it

         13  very well in terms of- they had certain lots

         14  determined as pocket as well.  So it could be like

         15  half a block essentially.  The State now requires

         16  that we sort of concentrate these areas into three

         17  areas so that the Economic Development Plan, the

         18  Economic Development Strategy going forward is much

         19  more focused versus a scattered shot.

         20                 The enabling state legislation that

         21  made these changes was adopted in April of 2005 and

         22  the State required all localities, including New

         23  York City, with empire zones to submit new

         24  configurations by January 1 of 2006.  So, what this

         25  effectively did was it gave the City a little less
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          2  than eight months to #1: Collect data on current

          3  land uses; #2:  To meet with our local zone

          4  coordinators to receive their view on local business

          5  conditions; and #3:  With this data, that we

          6  collected to reconfigure the boundaries to meet the

          7  State's requirements; #4: We needed to convene each

          8  Zone Administrative Board which oversees the

          9  individual empire zones to get their preliminary

         10  thoughts and their preliminary consideration on the

         11  reconfigure boundaries- on the preliminary

         12  reconfigure boundaries I should say; #5:  The next

         13  step was to also draft legislation which results in

         14  Intro. No. 421 before you today.

         15                 I should point out that the

         16  legislation- we took an opportunity to sort of make

         17  it a little easier for property owners and for zone

         18  coordinators to determine exactly where the zone

         19  begins and zone ends.  The zone is now codified as

         20  block and lots. I don't know if you have any prior

         21  recollection of the previous zones but it is

         22  basically meets and bounds saying that central line

         23  down Jamaica Avenue going west towards a hundred and

         24  whatever street it may have been.  This is a lot

         25  more clear and now you have a property, you know
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          2  what your block and lot is and type it in and figure

          3  out whether it is in the zone or not.

          4                 Finally, after drafting this

          5  legislation we had to submit to the Council for your

          6  consideration, meant for your vote. Now, each of

          7  these six tasks that I just described had to be

          8  multiplied by ten for each zone that we have

          9  currently in New York City.  So, to do those tasks

         10  within eight months times 10, 60 individual tasks is

         11  quite undertaking.  It's quite a challenge.

         12  Nevertheless, the Administration took that challenge

         13  and we took that opportunity to actually think a

         14  little smarter about the empire zones.  A little

         15  clearer about how do we go forward with this

         16  economic tool granted to us by the State.  With

         17  that, we took the opportunity to figure out how to

         18  integrate the empire zones into the Administration's

         19  overall economic development strategy.

         20                 With that in mind, in reconfiguring

         21  empire zones with our zone coordinators and other

         22  local stakeholders, we had three guiding principles

         23  in mind.  First was we wanted to update the  Zones

         24  to reflect current and forthcoming land uses.  After

         25  all, a lot of the zones that are before us for
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          2  consideration, their boundaries have not been

          3  revised in 5/6 years and a lot has happened these

          4  past 5/6 years.

          5                 The second principle was to allot

          6  maximum acreage to active industrial and commercial

          7  uses; and thirdly, we want to leverage existing

          8  economic development assets such as our recently

          9  created industrial Business Zones.  As you know, the

         10  16 industrial business zones have been established

         11  throughout the City earlier this year in April.  The

         12  benefits, if I could share them with you very

         13  briefly, are primarily three.  1)  The

         14  Administration promised not to support any rezoning

         15  for residential uses within the industrial business

         16  zones.  2)  It's a provision of a suite of business

         17  services from the Department of Small Business

         18  Services including financing, technical assistance,

         19  procurement; government navigation, soup to nuts

         20  really and basically holding the business owners'

         21  hand throughout.  3)  The other benefit of the

         22  industrial business zones is the offering of a

         23  relocation tax credit of $1,000 per employee for

         24  those industrial manufacturing businesses choosing

         25  to locate within an industrial business zone.
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          2                 Now, for each individual empire zone

          3  we were able to employ these guiding principles to

          4  reconfigure the boundaries and truly maximize our

          5  allotment of acreage to include the new industrial

          6  business zones.  So what we have before us are areas

          7  that were never ever included as empire zones such

          8  as new industrial business zones.  So what we have

          9  basically is an area that has both industrial

         10  business zones and empire zones and we picked up the

         11  areas as well.

         12                 I'll give you some examples:

         13  Greenpoint Williamsburg in Brooklyn along with

         14  Flatlands/Fairfield area.  Is that my queue to start

         15  singing?  The Zerega and Bathgate area in the Bronx

         16  and the JFK Industrial Corridor in Queens.  What

         17  this effectively means is that there are now

         18  hundreds, if not thousands, of new businesses who

         19  are eligible and are ready to partake in the

         20  benefits that the empire zone program offers.

         21                 We believe that Intro No. 421 is a

         22  carefully crafted piece of legislation that not only

         23  meets the State's criteria but also advances our

         24  overall economic agenda.

         25                 The Administration urges the Council
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          2  to consider and vote favorably upon Intro No. 421 as

          3  soon as practical.  The Council's approval of these

          4  new boundary configurations will complete our

          5  package that we have to send the State for a final

          6  designation for final certification.

          7                 Thank you once again for this

          8  opportunity to discuss the merits of Intro No. 421

          9  and I'll be more than happy to take any questions

         10  that you may have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Ms. Miller.

         12  Would you like to make a statement?

         13                 MS. MILLER:  All I can say is that in

         14  our work of the reconfiguration we feel that we've

         15  been able to maximize business potential within the

         16  empire zone and we ask for your support and we'd be

         17  happy to address any questions you have at this

         18  point.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  You've

         20  said in your statement about the reconfiguration of

         21  the empire zones and the local stakeholders, the

         22  Administration has three guidelines in mind that you

         23  wanted.  One:  Update the zones to reflect current-

         24  which I understand- current but forthcoming uses.

         25  Now the forthcoming uses I guess would be with the
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          2  land use.

          3                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.  It would be

          4  rezonings essentially that have occurred in some of

          5  the empire zones.  For example, in Park Morris there

          6  was a considerable undertaking in regards to

          7  rezoning parts of Port Morris that now include

          8  residential use as well.  That's one example.  So,

          9  in regards to those areas did it make sense to

         10  concentrate sacred, if you will, zoned acreage to

         11  areas that are going to be residential.  We'd rather

         12  concentrate to businesses where they can take

         13  advantage of it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Now, I understand

         15  that a number of the empire zone boundaries have

         16  changed drastically as a result of the new

         17  configurations, including East New York, Hunt's

         18  Point and East Harlem.  Can you explain why these

         19  boundaries are so different than the former

         20  boundaries and discuss the anticipated impact of the

         21  business districts particularly if negative.

         22                 MR. HUM:  In regards to the three

         23  specific ones you mentioned, East New York, East

         24  Harlem and Hunt's Point, I'll address them

         25  specifically but overall the boundaries where
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          2  changed because of those three principles that I

          3  talked about in regards to sort of focusing these

          4  zoned acreage into areas that are active industrial

          5  or commercial areas.

          6                 With regard to East New York, that

          7  area actually picked up acreage.  The Flatland

          8  Fairfields IBZ, which was recently created in April

          9  of 2006, is now included within the East New York

         10  Empire Zone.  In East Harlem, additional acreage was

         11  also allotted as well.  Additional land was included

         12  there to reflect the future commercial development

         13  in Randall's Island.  In Hunt's Point, the zone was

         14  reconfigured really to reflect residential

         15  development that is happening in the northwest

         16  corners of the Brooklyn Expressway.  There's some

         17  residential development happening there that we had

         18  thought, again, we had wanted to re- focus the

         19  acreage to active industrial uses.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Concerning the

         21  employment of residents, I understand that currently

         22  there is no requirement under the current program

         23  for empire zones certified businesses to hire

         24  residents from the local area?  Is it possible to

         25  change this and what are the legal possibilities?
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          2                 MR. HUM:  In regards to hiring

          3  locally, you're right.  There is nothing in the

          4  General Municipal law within the Administrative Code

          5  that requires local hiring.  In terms of changing

          6  it, I would imagine that it would be a legal

          7  legislative process starting with the State.  But,

          8  that's the law.  What I want to talk about has been

          9  a policy and policy is something that we have a

         10  little more control- a little more flexibility over.

         11    I think that one of the advantages in regards to

         12  the empire zone being transferred over to the

         13  Mayor's Office of Industrial Manufacturing

         14  Businesses is because there are linkages with

         15  Workforce Development that currently resides in

         16  Small Business Services.  In terms of our policy, in

         17  terms of the way that we approach admissions in this

         18  program is that we want to encourage as well in

         19  regards to hiring locally.  This is something that

         20  we would consider using as a performance metric or

         21  basically a measurement of the zones performed or

         22  the zone performance when they file the zone

         23  reports.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So, the answer to

         25  that questions is, short of legislation within the
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          2  confines of policy, you can implement that to sort

          3  of stimulate, motivate the hiring of residents in

          4  jobs.

          5                 MR. HUM:  Once again, it's something

          6  that we strongly encourage and that certainly works

          7  in within the Administration's overall economic

          8  development policy.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.  I will call

         10  upon my colleague, Council Member Vann.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman.  On that last point, I wasn't clear in

         13  terms of residential preferences for hiring that it

         14  is within your policy now to do something,

         15  encourage, whatever, even though it may not "be

         16  legislatively mandated"?  Is that pretty much what

         17  you're saying?

         18                 MR. HUM:  I think that in terms of

         19  making better connections with Workforce

         20  Development, absolutely.  The overall theory of

         21  Workforce Development is really to hire New Yorkers.

         22                 MS. MILLER:  And if I can just add,

         23  each zone actually has a development plan which sets

         24  out the zone goals and priorities and we plan to

         25  look at this as a factor that we can integrate into
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          2  these development plans.  These are used as a guide

          3  when we're certifying new businesses going forward.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay I won't

          5  profess that I know anything.

          6                 The industrial Business Zone, do they

          7  currently overlap with the empire zones?

          8                 MR. HUM:  For the most part they do.

          9  There are some industrial business zones that we

         10  were not able to get them in empire zones because of

         11  a couple restrictions.  One: There was no nearby

         12  empire zone.  An example of that is Long Island

         13  City, Maspeth in Queens.  Those are a couple

         14  examples but I believe out of the 16, we have

         15  captured 13, I believe, of industrial business zones

         16  within the empire zones.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  And that was

         18  one of the objectives of this --

         19                 MR. HUM:  Certainly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:

         21  Reconfiguration, right?

         22                 MR. HUM:  Certainly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MANN:  So that brings

         24  additional what?

         25                 MR. HUM:  It basically gives a
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          2  business more bang for its buck, essentially, by

          3  locating within a certain area.  If you decide to

          4  locate within say Green Point in Williamsburg, we

          5  can offer you a $1,000 tax credit for each employee

          6  that you can bring in with you, in addition to the

          7  empire zone benefits which include wage tax credits,

          8  sales tax exemptions and investment tax credits.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Even though

         10  we've been talking about what you can do in terms of

         11  intent and policy without the benefit of a statute,

         12  do you have any type of accounting of local

         13  employment that's involved?

         14                 MR. HUM:  Currently some zones do it,

         15  some zones don't.  I mean, it's something that we

         16  require at this point; it's something that we would

         17  certainly look into requiring of the zone

         18  coordinators.  We would do it probably by zip code

         19  in regards to having employers report where their

         20  employees- what zip code they have.  It doesn't

         21  specify their address necessarily.  That's a privacy

         22  issue, of course.  But in regard to showing the zip

         23  code, we do now that at least one zone coordinator

         24  does that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  So it's up to
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          2  each own coordinator whether or not they do this?

          3  It's not a policy that in empire zones should

          4  maintain a registry of residential hiring even if

          5  it's not --

          6                 MR. HUM:  It's something that's not

          7  required at the current moment but, the way that we

          8  see it is that this is an opportunity to sort of

          9  start new essentially with the empire zones with the

         10  new legislation and new requirements.  It's

         11  certainly something that, with regards to

         12  development performance metrics with the State, we

         13  would certainly like to explore.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Well, I think

         15  we should do more than explore because it would seem

         16  to me the intent of the empire zones and why you put

         17  them where you put them is because of --

         18                 MR. HUM:  Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  -- The

         20  distressed nature of the neighborhood it would seem

         21  to necessarily follow that you want to make sure

         22  you're making an impact with the zone.

         23                 MR. HUM:  Sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  So that is

         25  adding nothing on to it, that should be right in
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          2  line with the concept.

          3                 MR. HUM:  Sure.  Absolutely.  You hit

          4  the nail on the head in regards to why these zones

          5  are created.  I think that the devil's always in the

          6  details in regards to figuring out exactly how do

          7  you quantify and how do you count those employees

          8  and I think that that's something that I need to get

          9  a better understanding of.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  We need you to

         11  be the devil as far as details are concerned.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, I think

         13  that to follow up on Council Member Vann, I think

         14  that in terms of, at least the way I see it, there

         15  is a very distinct request with the legislation.

         16  It's very distinct with the ability for the policy

         17  but I think that one of the ways that we can really

         18  take a look at how the residents as well as the City

         19  can benefit is whether or not within this

         20  legislation and the policy is the willingness on the

         21  part of the administration and the willingness on

         22  the part of the State to help up- list the

         23  unemployment in the City of New York.  It shouldn't

         24  be a matter of you having to play the devil but, if

         25  you have to you have to.  I also want to take a look
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          2  at the details.  I think within the details we're

          3  not creating an unnecessary burden on the businesses

          4  or the reconfiguration or the standards that you're

          5  seeking to stimulate business in the City of New

          6  York.

          7                 It appears to be somewhat of- I'd

          8  like to put it in the area of oversight and an

          9  assumption.  Without legislation I think there

         10  should be a clear and definite policy coming from

         11  the Administration and its requirements on certain

         12  individuals even though it's not the law.  We can

         13  take a look at the spirit of the legislation and

         14  attach that to the requirements.  That's just my

         15  recommendation.

         16                 I would like to recognize my other

         17  colleagues who have joined us.  Our Council Member

         18  McMahon, Council Member Gerson and Council Member

         19  Palma.  Council Member McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Just one

         21  quick questions. Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Mr. Hum, the lines now that you've

         23  presented to us for approval, did you draw those or

         24  where they drawn in consultation with the local

         25  administrator or where they drawn by the local
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          2  administration and then brought back to you for

          3  approval.

          4                 MR. HUM:  It was a joint effort of

          5  local administrators and our office, as well.  We

          6  provided the more technical support I would say in

          7  terms of the mapping.  Also census data and

          8  Department of Labor data.  But we certainly looked

          9  to and deferred to the local zone coordinators in

         10  terms of determining the boundaries.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  As I look to

         12  the West Shore zone in Staten Island there's a large

         13  swath of land that I could like to see included in

         14  it but it's not.  Is that because of the two- square

         15  mile limitation?  Is that drawn out to its two- mile

         16  maximum?

         17                 MR. HUM:  For the most part it is in

         18  regards to, you know, we had really went to the

         19  limit in regards to many zones with regard to the

         20  two- square miles.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Because the

         22  Nascar sight is left out of the drawing.  Are you

         23  familiar with that large swath of land?  You've

         24  heard of that issue?

         25                 MR. HUM:  I think I did.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I know Mr.

          3  Anderson is here from the SIEDC who probably

          4  explains it better but, is it possible to create

          5  another empire zone on Staten Island?

          6                 MR. HUM:  The putting another empire

          7  zone would require State action in the State

          8  legislature in regards to giving us the okay.  If

          9  the State legislator gives us that authority we'd be

         10  more than happy to sit with you and sit with SIEDC

         11  or any other stakeholders in regards to figuring out

         12  how do we do that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Council

         15  Member Gerson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you and

         17  thank you very much Mr. Chair.

         18                 Good morning.

         19                 MR. HUM:  Good morning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Just for

         21  clarification, we have empire zones and you

         22  discussed with Council Member Vann the industrial

         23  business zones.  You also on the map referred to

         24  investment zones well- are there any other relevant

         25  zones that kind of overlap or play a role here that
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          2  we should be cognizant of?

          3                 MR. HUM:  I think you covered it all

          4  in regards to the current development world.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  ESPN,

          6  there you go. That's my favorite one.  But no.

          7                 MR. HUM:  We've got the SPN Zone.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well maybe

          9  that's for a separate hearing but.

         10                 So, could you just talk us through.

         11  I know you did that with respect to the industrial

         12  business zones.  But, the interplay of all three and

         13  bringing in the Investments Zones, how do they

         14  interplay and synergize or not.

         15                 MR. HUM:  Investment zones, just for

         16  clarification, if a classification of empire zones.

         17  When you say empire zones you're including-

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  They're the

         19  same thing? It's just another word for the same

         20  zone?

         21                 MR. HUM:  Pretty much.  It's a

         22  classification of it. Yeah.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Oh.  I

         24  thought on one of the maps, I thought I noticed a

         25  part of- let me try and find it- a part of one of
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          2  the empire zones was- yeah here.  If you look at the

          3  North Shore, you have Area 2 investment zone, then

          4  you have Area 3 which doesn't say investment zone.

          5  And then you have Area 4 investment zone.  So, is

          6  there any difference say between Area 2 and Area 3

          7  or did you just leave that out?

          8                 MR. HUM:  The Area 2 and Area 3 are

          9  investment zones equally.  As the Council report

         10  outlines, lays out, the difference between the

         11  investment zone and the development zone is

         12  primarily in its nature of where it's designated.

         13  Development --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Hold on.

         15  When you say the development zone, you're referring

         16  now to the empire development zone or the industrial

         17  business?

         18                 MR. HUM:  Sure.  Let me take a step

         19  back.  In the family of the empire zones --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Right.

         21                 MR. HUM:  There are two children,

         22  let's say.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.

         24                 MR. HUM:  Investment Zones and

         25  development zones but they're all on the family of
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          2  empire zones.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So what's the

          4  difference between the two?

          5                 MR. HUM:  Investment Zones are for a

          6  geographic area while the development zones are for

          7  county- wide designation.  The difference really is,

          8  within the state legislation as the Council Report

          9  outlines, the development zone was meant more for

         10  rural county development and larger county

         11  development.  It is simply by the nature of the

         12  Northshore Development and the Northshore

         13  designation pursuant to a section of the law that

         14  basically said it's a development zone.  So, that's

         15  the difference.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So the only

         17  development zone we have in the City of New York is

         18  Northshore?

         19                 MR. HUM:  That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Are there any

         21  benefits that are different within the development

         22  zone from an investment zone?

         23                 MR. HUM:  Generally there are not,

         24  there-

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Not generally
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          2   -- specifically.

          3                 MR. HUM:  Generally and specifically

          4  there are not the benefits are the same.  It's just

          5  basically the designation in terms of the criteria

          6  used to determine either an investment zone or

          7  development zone or different.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So the two

          9  children are identical twins?

         10                 MR. HUM:  Fraternal.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But you get

         12  the same benefits in one as you do in the other.

         13                 MR. HUM:  Indeed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  Now

         15  when you bring in the industrial business zones,

         16  which you discussed with Council Member Vann, that

         17  just brings you an additional tax credit if you lie

         18  within the industrial business zone?

         19                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Can you just

         21  reiterate what that tax credit is?

         22                 MR. HUM:  It's a relocation tax

         23  credit.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So it's only

         25  for relocation.
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          2                 MR. HUM:  Correct.  Correct.  It Is

          3  for Industrial and Manufacturing businesses who are

          4  locating within the IBZ can avail themselves of a

          5  tax credit of $1,000 per full- time employee.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Now when you

          7  say relocation, would that cover a brand new start-

          8  up that never existed or only businesses that are

          9  moving from point A to point B?

         10                 MR. HUM:  Businesses that move from

         11  point A to point B.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That doesn't,

         13  from a policy standpoint, it seems at the very least

         14  we should be giving the same benefit and

         15  encouragement to start- ups that we do to

         16  relocations. If anything we should be giving more to

         17  start- ups.

         18                 MR. HUM:  It is something that's

         19  codified within the law in regards to existing

         20  businesses.  I personally would like to see start-

         21  ups included in there as well.  That's something

         22  that we could possibly explore as well.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And you don't

         24  loose any of the empire zone benefit if you claim

         25  industrial Business benefit.
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          2                 MR. HUM:  No because industrial

          3  business zone tax credit is administrated by the

          4  City and the empire zone benefits are administered

          5  by the state.  So, you're basically knocking on two

          6  doors.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, let me

          8  then just ask you on this point of business

          9  creation- let me just say ditto to the comments made

         10  by my colleagues, Chair White and  Council Member

         11  Vann about local employment.

         12                 In addition to local employment.  We

         13  should also be encouraging local new business

         14  creation whether it's through providing capital to

         15  start- ups, privately owned businesses or a wide

         16  variety or encouraging kind of larger employee-

         17  owned enterprises.  Are there any programs currently

         18  available that provide support either in the form of

         19  economic support, financial support and/or technical

         20  support to star- up businesses within these zones?

         21  Start- up business by local folks?

         22                 MR. HUM:  Certainly.  Even outside

         23  the zones- I mean, the Department of Small

         24  Businesses Services administers the business

         25  solution centers which really offers that soup to
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          2  nuts tutorial in regards to starting the business;

          3  accessing financing, figuring out the ABCs of how to

          4  start your business.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, that's

          6  the technical assistance side and I know you know

          7  EVC has, for special situations, arranges for either

          8  loans or grants.  But, there's no special financial

          9  assistance available if you're a local person and

         10  you try to start- up a business or create a new

         11  business within these empire zones currently, right?

         12                 MR. HUM:  Yeah, there's something

         13  called Zone Capital credits that are available

         14  within the empire zones that basically it's a

         15  lending pool, if you will, for a certified business

         16  within the zones.  It's a state program again and

         17  it's specifically for the empire zones.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And it's a

         19  lending program? Low interest loans, is that what it

         20  is?

         21                 MR. HUM:  That's basically it, yeah.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Could you get

         23  us a copy of the criteria for that?

         24                 MR. HUM:  I'd be more than happy to.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  It just seems
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          2  to me, Mr. Chair, this may be an area to explore

          3  further as we continue with our work in anti-

          4  poverty in terms of new and creative ways  of

          5  encouraging new business creations in various forms.

          6  Specially in the empire zones but elsewhere as well.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  That's noted.

         10  Would you supply that information?

         11                 MR. HUM:  I'd certainly would be

         12  happy to.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  I'd like

         14  to recognize the presence of Council Member Reyna

         15  who has joined us.

         16                 Council Member Palmer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  Thank you Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 Good morning.

         20                 MR. HUM:  Good morning.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  The

         22  businesses that now are in the empire zone, they're

         23  aware of all the changes that are going on?

         24                 MR. HUM:  We rely on our local zone

         25  coordinators to sort of be our local eyes and ears,
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          2  if you will, in regards to the community to inform

          3  them about the empire zone benefits and to avail

          4  themselves to them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  And so have

          6  they given any feedback in terms of the new changes?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  I think the

          8  biggest feedback that we're getting is that let's

          9  get this legislation passed and I say that because

         10  we have a lot of businesses who are lining up for

         11  certification.  Until the designation packages,

         12  which includes the City Council's approval- until

         13  those designation packages are approved by the

         14  state, they can't get certified.  So, the biggest

         15  message I hear from them is that, you know, let's

         16  get going.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  Now, the

         18  businesses within the zone have the option to be

         19  part of the program or not.  It's strictly up to

         20  them.

         21                 MR. HUM:  That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  It's not

         23  mandated.  What's the percentage of businesses that

         24  participate in the zone?

         25                 MR. HUM:  It depends on what zone
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          2  you're talking about and something on that level I

          3  would have to refer to the Zone Coordinators on it

          4  and I'd be more than happy to report back to you on

          5  that.

          6

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMER:  Yes, I would

          8  like to see information on that because I believe

          9  that we can also be innovative in trying to bring in

         10  the businesses that are not participating to see-

         11  maybe we can ask them why they're not participating

         12  to see if there are any other things we can offer

         13  them that will make them be part of the zone.

         14                 In regards to the ones that are

         15  participating, the benefits- are they going to

         16  remain the same ones the changes come about or are

         17  they getting offered new things?

         18                 MR. HUM:  For, I want to make clear,

         19  are you talking about businesses that are currently

         20  in zone?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  In the zone.

         22                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.  If they're

         23  certified, great.  Their benefits stay the same and

         24  what we want to focus on in the new areas in terms

         25  of getting new businesses in as well.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Okay.  Thank

          3  you.

          4                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Once again I

          6  would like to say that the information requested by

          7  Council Member Palmer be delivered, as soon as

          8  possible to the staff of the Committee and the staff

          9  of the Committee will disseminate the information to

         10  all of its Members.

         11                 Okay.  Council Member Reyna, do you

         12  have a question at this time?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I apologize, I

         14  got here late Mr. Chair.  I was at the

         15  Transportation hearing and I know that our office is

         16  working closely with Carl Hum's office in just

         17  giving our input as far as the empire zone is

         18  concerned.

         19                 MR. HUM:  And we thank you for that

         20  input.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Absolutely and

         22  I appreciate the opportunity to give the input.

         23  Carl Hum's office, through his leadership, has been

         24  very creative in trying to lay one program after

         25  another to protect our industrial park.  To be able
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          2  to induce further industries into our areas and a

          3  lot of the problem is that the empire zone alone

          4  cannot continue to work.

          5                 I'm not sure if that particular

          6  statement has been shared from our Committee to Carl

          7  Hum.  I know he's very well aware of and I don't

          8  know if that was highlighted as to what we can

          9  further do to make the empire zone work so that, not

         10  just the relocation programs, not just the IBZ

         11  lines, but that in fact industries can look outside

         12  the Manhattan center areas and look into the outside

         13  boroughs to see the potential of these carved- out

         14  zones.  To be able to produce the labor force that

         15  we so eagerly want to see induced.  There's

         16  employment opportunity but we need to see the small

         17  businesses come in first.

         18                 I don't know if Carl wanted to share

         19  with this Committee how we've been able to work

         20  together in trying to get to that goal.  Our

         21  outcomes are simple.  We want to see new business,

         22  not just the same business.  The industries that are

         23  there protect them and seek job growth by expanding

         24  their growth but at the end of the day anything

         25  that's stale is not going to help anyone.
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          2                 I hope that fell into- I was trying

          3  to catch up with the testimony.  I apologize again

          4  for having come here late.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  That's quite

          6  alright.

          7                 One of the things that, before you

          8  leave I'm going to be polling the Members of the

          9  Committee, is on some of these areas and issues,

         10  specially empire zones dealing with businesses,

         11  emergent businesses, suggested businesses, location

         12  of businesses, that aside from just having a hearing

         13  on the businesses we want to get some visual aid.

         14  So, we're going to be going out and take a look at a

         15  empire zone and its configurations.  And maybe we'll

         16  have a hearing in a particular zone.  That's going

         17  to be a task because all of my colleagues are going

         18  to want to save their zones.

         19                 But I think in an economic

         20  development that what we need to do is we can take

         21  the hearing closer to the people in terms of closer

         22  to the business people in the community.  The

         23  concerns that you have we can work that out.  So,

         24  that's something I would like for the Members to

         25  think about and that's on site visualization.  Some
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          2  of the legislation that comes before us that we have

          3  to cast a vote on and maybe we'll have a better

          4  light on what we're really- more insight into what

          5  we're really passing. Okay.

          6                 So, if there are no further

          7  questions.  Oh yes, excuse me.  Council Member Vann.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you

          9  Chairman.

         10                 Again, I just wanted clarification.

         11  In the testimony it says "in addition to extending

         12  the program benefits to June 30, 2011, legislation

         13  requires all individual empire zones consist of no

         14  more than three distinct non- contiguous areas

         15  except for areas previously designed as development

         16  zones."  So if you've already been designated, you

         17  remain.

         18                 MR. HUM:  That's right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  In addition to

         20  that, if you identify any additional, there can only

         21  be three?  I don't-

         22                 MS. MILLER:  Well actually

         23  development zones you're able to have six non-

         24  contiguous areas designated.  So there are slightly

         25  different designations than the investment zones.
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          2  As Carl explained before, you have both investment

          3  zones and development zones that fall under the

          4  wider umbrella of empire zones.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  It wasn't clear

          6  until you spoke.

          7                 How many development zones are there?

          8                 MS. LEE:  There's only one.

          9                 MR. HUM:  There's only one in New

         10  York City.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  One development

         12  zone in New York City.  That covers-

         13                 MR. HUM:  And all the other ones are

         14  investment zones.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  And investment

         16  zones is the same as empire zones:

         17                 MR. HUM:  That's right.  As I

         18  explained to Councilman Gerson, they're all in the

         19  same family with the last name empire zones to sort

         20  of-

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Each brings

         22  some additional benefit?

         23                 MR. HUM:  The same benefits.  Again

         24  it is basically the criteria that is used to

         25  determine the zone that is a little different
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          2  between investment zone and the development zone.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay.  I'll

          4  probably get clearer on that later.  Let me ask your

          5  professional opinion on something.

          6                 Obviously these good programs

          7  actually is based on moving businesses into the

          8  areas that are so called economically distressed and

          9  it's sort of trickled down.  The result of the

         10  benefits that you give them they will expand.  They

         11  will hire more people and it is assumed, because

         12  it's not mandated, that they'll hire more people

         13  from the area and that will help to eliminate

         14  poverty and so forth.  And that's good but it's a

         15  trickle down but it's good.

         16                 What would you think of another

         17  approach, not replacing this but another approach

         18  where you establish community development zones,

         19  let's call it, in the areas of highest unemployment,

         20  highest rate of poverty and in those designated

         21  areas you would work with the people there to make

         22  them employable.  So they can go to jobs in this

         23  zone, they can go to jobs in Jersey or Kansas,

         24  whatever they need to make them employable.  What

         25  would you think of that as a compliment to the
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          2  empire zone.

          3                 MR. HUM:  I think that's a great idea

          4  in the overall development and betterment for our

          5  City.  What I would say is that I think that's

          6  already happening on many levels.  In particularly

          7  within SBS and Workforce Development.  Their good

          8  work that they're doing with regards to the

          9  Workforce One Centers that are across the City.  I

         10  think that their focus really is to train folks,

         11  make them job- ready, if you will, and then hook

         12  them up with jobs that are in the City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yeah, I should

         14  say that this Administration, to their credit, I say

         15  that because for the last six years I've been trying

         16  to focus us, as an Administration City Council, to

         17  begin to focus more on poverty.  Of course, as a

         18  result of Katrina, the double tragedy of Katrina is

         19  focus poverty throughout the nation.  People realize

         20  that we have really been neglecting our poor people,

         21  and to his credit, our Mayor, our Administration,

         22  has set a couple of things in motion:  The economic

         23  opportunity, or the so-called anti-poverty effort

         24  that people are speaking of, and also the pilot

         25  programs Doctoroff seems to be the author.  So, I'll
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          2  give the Administration credit, some approaches have

          3  begun and I intend, our City Council tend now to

          4  work with them on making them even better, on

          5  refining them to make sure they are focused and do

          6  what the Mayor and all of us would like them to do.

          7                 MR. HUM:  We look forward to that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you.

          9                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I would like to

         11  add one thing- area of concern with all of the

         12  empire zones and the tax credits and investment

         13  credits.  One thing I have as a concern and I guess

         14  it goes along with Council Member Vann says and

         15  along with the Administration.  I'm concerned with

         16  the economic development from another dimension.

         17  That is I don't want to see the middle class shrink

         18  from the City of New York.  We often talk about big

         19  business, start- up businesses, and we talk about

         20  providing incentives for people to get a job but

         21  there is another group of individuals who live in

         22  this City who are middle class of middle income that

         23  I think have to be safeguarded and protected to

         24  maintain their status and to be able to make an

         25  affordable living within the City of New York and
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          2  maybe an investment in business. So I just want to

          3  say that as a footnote and, in addition, I want to

          4  commend the Administration, as well as you, with the

          5  (one moment please).  Let me go back.

          6                 MR. HUM:  You're not going to take

          7  back all those wonderful words are you?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  No.  I'm going to

          9  save the best for last.

         10                 But, one of the biggest complaints

         11  about New York City empire zone programs with

         12  respect to its effectiveness is that it is

         13  understaffed which has precluded New York City

         14  empire zone business merchants from enjoying many of

         15  the perks that upstate zones have provided due

         16  primarily to inadequate staffing.

         17                 MR. HUM:  I think that one of the

         18  advantages in the program being transferred to my

         19  office is that it gets more resources by having a

         20  particular focus on the Industrial Manufacturing

         21  businesses.  Additionally, I think that in regards

         22  to the understaffing or some of the thoughts that it

         23  was understaffed, I think that there's a big push

         24  ahead of us in regards to finding new businesses and

         25  making sure those businesses that have applied are
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          2  certified.  It is my focus to alleviate the waiting

          3  line to work with Lee and to guard our resources in

          4  regards to making sure those business are certified.

          5    It's something that I consider my top priority.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  I'm glad

          7  to hear that.

          8                 Now I will say what I started to say.

          9    Under the time constraints that you had in meeting

         10  the deadline, I think you did- the Administration

         11  has done a wonderful job.  Since this is a

         12  partnership between the Administration and City

         13  Council, we will fulfill our responsibility in order

         14  for things to move forward for the best interest of

         15  the City of New York.  With that being said, I know

         16  that that's probably because of the time constraint

         17  you weren't able to put in that procedure to

         18  safeguard whether or not, in spite of the

         19  legislative or the policy, something within the 421

         20  redesignation to safeguard the residents for

         21  employment.

         22                 MR. HUM:  It's also a little beyond

         23  the intent of the legislation as well but it's, as I

         24  said before, it's a policy that I look forward to

         25  working with you and the rest of the Council.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I'm very glad to

          3  hear that.  I want to thank you very much.

          4                 MR. HUM:  Thank you Chair and thank

          5  you the Members of the Economic Development

          6  Committee.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Thank you

          8  for coming SBA.

          9                 Okay.  I'm going to call, and I would

         10  like for the three of you to come up.  Mr. James

         11  Anderson, Staten Island Economic Development

         12  Corporation.  Mr. Richard Werber, Greater Jamaican

         13  Development Corporation and Mr. Wilkins from the

         14  Local Development Corporation of East New York.

         15                 Welcome gentlemen.

         16                 MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning.

         17                 MR. WERBER:  Good morning.

         18                 MR. WILKINS:  Good morning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  If you have some

         20  prepared statements, I hope you're given them to the

         21  Sargeant at Arms.

         22                 I would like to acknowledge the

         23  attendance of Council Member James.  Good morning.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mr. Chair, if

         25  I may.  I just want to say I think the idea you
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          2  raised earlier about having meetings out in the

          3  zones and local hearings I think that's a great

          4  idea. I would look forward to joining you in any of

          5  them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And Council

          8  Member Palma put in a pitch for the Bronx.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  That's the

         10  part I was talking about.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yeah.  Pull

         12  it out of a hat.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  But I will say

         14  that the Committee will make it a point to visit all

         15  five boroughs.  Okay?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Spoken like a

         17  Chair of wisdom.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Good

         19  morning.  From left to right, you are?

         20                 MR. WERBER:  Richard Werber for the

         21  Greater Jamaica Development Corporation.

         22                 MR. WILKINS:  Bill Wilkins, Local

         23  Development Corporation of East New York.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Mr.

         25  Anderson.
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          2                 MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning.  My name

          3  is James Anderson.  I'm the Director of Services for

          4  the Staten Island Economic Development Corporation.

          5                 The SIEDC is pleased to have the

          6  opportunity to make a statement to you regarding the

          7  redesignation of the north and west empire zones.

          8  The Staten Island Economic Development Corporation

          9  has successfully administered the Northshore Empire

         10  Zones since 1994 and the Westshore Empire Zones

         11  since 2001 when it was originally designated.  The

         12  Northshore Empire Zone has realized has realized

         13  over $300 million in private investment and created

         14  over 1,500 jobs.  The tax incentives available

         15  through the state program has supported the

         16  attraction and development of industrial and

         17  commercial businesses along the commercial

         18  industrial strips of Richmond Terrace and Bay

         19  Street.

         20                 The Westshore Empire Zone has

         21  assisted businesses in the areas of South Avenue and

         22  Forest Avenue in realizing over $50 million in

         23  private investment and has also created 1,000 jobs.

         24  The program has assisted with the expansion of the

         25  Staten Island Corporate Park which presently

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  includes a hotel, five class A office buildings and

          3  a chocolate manufacturer.

          4                 The redesignation of the boundaries

          5  for the North and Westshore zones will enable our

          6  organization to continue to provide necessary state

          7  tax incentives to targeted industries and businesses

          8  looking to locate and expand on Staten Island thus

          9  increasing private investment and job growth.

         10                 The redesignated areas also provide

         11  an opportunity to service locations in which

         12  potential development projects which have already

         13  been identified and improves our organization's

         14  assistance to waterfront area that the City has

         15  deemed an industrial investment area to help

         16  industrial businesses.

         17                 Now, I'll keep my statement short and

         18  I'll open for questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  We will

         20  defer asking a question until we hear the testimony

         21  from the three of you.

         22                 MR. WERBER:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         23  Good day to you Mr. Chairman and Committee Members

         24  and Council staff.  I'm Richard Werber.  I'm the

         25  Director of Business and Industrial Development for
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          2  the Greater Jamaican Development Corporation.

          3                 GJDC is a local empire zone

          4  administrator and we want to thank you for this

          5  opportunity to speak with you about our empire zone.

          6                 We see redesignation as an

          7  opportunity to enhance the South Jamaica Empire Zone

          8  boundaries and to include a second area within our

          9  empire zone.  Inclusion of this area which abuts the

         10  northern boundary of JFK Airport is aligned with the

         11  strategic development plans of Queens County and our

         12  Greater Jamaica Development Corporation.  We all

         13  view the airport as a primary economic driver.  The

         14  area has also been newly designated by the City as a

         15  JFK Corridor Industrial Business Zone.  You've heard

         16  about those from Carl.

         17                 The creation of the industrial

         18  business zones is key to the welcomed reinvigoration

         19  of a citywide industrial policy and the inclusion of

         20  the JFK Corridor IBZ within a New York State empire

         21  zone will leverage the City's commitment.  Most

         22  important, the new boundaries have been approved by

         23  the local Zone Administrative Board.

         24                 The Jamaica Empire Zone has been an

         25  effective economic development tool, a community
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          2  building tool and a job creator for the City in

          3  general and for Southeast Queens in particular.

          4  Historically, the great majority of the jobs created

          5  or retained by our certified companies go to

          6  residents of Jamaica or nearby communities.  A 2004

          7  analysis shows that at the Wonderbread Bakery in

          8  Jamaica, which provides industrial jobs to over 700,

          9  30% of all employees are from Southeast Queens and

         10  60% were from either Brooklyn or Queens.

         11                 Of the 58 employees of Jamaica's

         12  Multiplex Theater, 47% live in Jamaica and 74% live

         13  in Southeast Queens.  A recently certified company,

         14  Multi Diagnostic Services Incorporated, brought six

         15  new jobs to the community and projects ten to

         16  fifteen more jobs over the next five years.  The

         17  company provides free mammogram at its offices on a

         18  walk- in basis to women who have no health

         19  insurance.

         20                 The company president, Tom Herman

         21  said, "we were intrigued by Jamaica's transportation

         22  advantages, business incentive tax credits through

         23  the Empire Zone Program and the prospect of having a

         24  large, diverse, educated group of people to both

         25  serve and employ.
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          2                 The New York City Department of Small

          3  Business Services has been diligent in working with

          4  GJDC and our local Zone Administrator Board to

          5  define and do boundaries for the South Jamaica

          6  Empire Zone per Introduction 421.

          7                 We want to thank the Members of the

          8  Economic Development Committee for their attention

          9  to this opportunity, to rationalize the South

         10  Jamaica Empire Zone boundaries and ask that you

         11  support this introduction.  I would also add I think

         12  it's a wonderful idea for Members to come out to the

         13  zones and certainly we invite you to South Jamaica

         14  Zone.  Just let us know.  The bus will be ready.

         15  We'll take you around and be happy to show you both

         16  the original zone and everything that's been

         17  happening there over the last 20 to 30 years.  Plus

         18  the new zone areas which we are finding to be quite

         19  interesting and present some great opportunities for

         20  the zone to work well.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. WILKINS:  Good morning.  As I

         24  stated, my name is Bill Wilkins.  I'm the East

         25  Brooklyn Zone Coordinator working for the Local
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          2  Development Corporation of East New York.  The Local

          3  Development Corporation of East New York has worked

          4  in the field of economic development for over 26

          5  years.  Basically in four program areas, industrial

          6  development, entrepreneurial training, commercial

          7  revitalization and, lastly, environmental justice.

          8                 We've also received the distinction

          9  of being the first designated zone in the empire

         10  zone's program; the first industrial bid and also

         11  one of the first industrial parks.  With this

         12  history I think I am in a unique position to give

         13  you insight into the zone's program of which the LDC

         14  has successfully administered the zone since 1987

         15  and has realized over $263 million in private

         16  investment and created over 6,000 jobs.  To date

         17  it's been instrumental in developing over 800 acres

         18  of land.

         19                 Basically, when you have an empire

         20  zone it can be two square miles or 1.2 acres. That

         21  breaks down- when we were originally designated we

         22  were 582 acres.  Three years ago we did another 220

         23  and now, by state mandate, it's a mandate for the

         24  state for the redesignation.  They would like all

         25  zones to lay down all zone acreage and come up to
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          2  this 1.2 acres.  So, it's 1,280 acres. Excuse me.

          3  It's 1,280 acres.  Presently we're 800 so we had to

          4  lay down another 400 acres.  In doing that, we

          5  thought it would be intelligent to work in

          6  conjunction with the IBZ to lay down our acreage in

          7  the Fairfield/Canarsie quadrant.

          8                 This also plays into our rationale-

          9  our zone is mostly M- 1.  M- 1 means light

         10  industrial manufacturing.  So we have M- 1 firms to

         11  M- 3 which would be heavy industrial.  We thought

         12  the Fairfield/Canarsie quadrant made sense because

         13  most of the parcels there are over 100,000 square

         14  feet.  If you have a large entity looking for a

         15  major expansion, this would be a nice addition to

         16  our industrial inventory.  That was really the focus

         17  of our plan.

         18                 So, it bring us out into a quadrant

         19  that has UPS, Federal Express, Jersey Land Farms,

         20  the Brooklyn Terminal Market almost going out to

         21  Kings Highway.  So, I start- I don't know how well

         22  you know Brooklyn but I'm all up and down Atlantic

         23  Avenue. I'm in three industrial parks and our new

         24  industrial park and then we also have a small

         25  quadrant: The Biotech Center by Downstate by Kings
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          2  County.

          3                 So, it is a significant amount of

          4  land that we, as administrators or coordinators,

          5  have to oversee.  To answer some of your other

          6  questions raised today, probably I've captured maybe

          7  about 30% of the businesses in this geographic area.

          8    Companies have to be paying fringes to workers in

          9  order to embrace incentives.  So if you have mom and

         10  pop shops that are paying individuals off the books,

         11  the programs are not going to work for you.  So,

         12  some entities will just not be interested.

         13                 In essence, the program works if two

         14  components are taking place which is capital

         15  investment in your business and job growth.  If you

         16  embrace those two things at the end of the day

         17  you're going to receive incentives from the state

         18  and the incentives are significant.  For example, in

         19  the quadrant I was just discussing, we have United

         20  Parcel Services.  Their payroll for their facility

         21  is over $34 million.  They introduced a new

         22  packaging information system and also did leasehold

         23  improvements for about $3 million which will mean to

         24  the company about an $800,000 tax credit for this

         25  year and also created 25 new jobs.
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          2                 So, the program works.  Recently, as

          3  you can see through the synopsis that have provided,

          4  they have taken us through three major legislative

          5  changes during my tenure which creates a lot of

          6  heavy lifting for zone coordinators.  More

          7  importantly to me, my administrative funding has

          8  been cut from $63,000 to $26,000. So, a lot of the

          9  work that I do with the zones program is basically

         10  pro bono.

         11                 You had raised the question or there

         12  was discussion about the mandate of hiring locally.

         13  That's what we're passionate about doing.  Anytime a

         14  business calls us, we go into our data base of

         15  workforce development people and entities like Tech

         16  Brooklyn and we try to see if there's anyone in the

         17  zip codes that are available that are seeking work

         18  and we funnel those resume to those individuals.

         19  Success is minimal because I'm not a job developer.

         20  I don't have a job developer on staff.  But I do try

         21  to keep a database of job- ready individuals or

         22  we'll reach out to our local legislators to see if

         23  they have anyone that's interested in seeking

         24  employment.

         25                 In addition to that there was a
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          2  mention of zone capital credits and zone capital

          3  credits- it breaks down to two things:  Direct

          4  equity and community development.  Those two

          5  programs are really for angel investors.  If you

          6  were interested in investing in one of the companies

          7  in the zone we would have to submit an application,

          8  get approval for our board and you would receive a

          9  25% tax incentive on your tax return.  So, it's

         10  really to induce investment and for community

         11  development to stimulate investment and projects.

         12                 I guess the last thing I'd like to

         13  say is that with us increasing, particularly in East

         14  Brooklyn, our zone acreage it's going to require a

         15  concerted effort for us to carry out the work but

         16  I'm a (sic) drive the last point to honestly be

         17  we're in the program year and it's September, let's

         18  say the middle of September. We don't even know what

         19  our contract is for this year.  This is heavy

         20  lifting that we're going for the 2005- 2006 year.

         21  So, we're mandated by contract to do this.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.  Are you

         23  finished with your testimony?

         24                 MR. WILKINS:  Yes I am, sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.
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          2                 I'd like to acknowledge the presence

          3  of Council Member Dave Weprin.

          4                 It appears as though, well it doesn't

          5  appear, that you three gentlemen are for 421.

          6                 MR. WILKINS:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  In the area of

          8  employment, there appear to be something like a

          9  built- in kind of failure.  If you're saying that in

         10  order to properly, and I will stand corrected, but

         11  in order to properly get a reading on the employment

         12  of residents in an area you need a staff person who

         13  is proficient in that particular area to

         14  administratively monitor and keep track of the

         15  employment opportunities in that zone?

         16                 MR. WILKINS:  Well, it would

         17  definitely help or it would take calling all of the

         18  105 businesses that I represent for them to do an

         19  analysis from their payroll to determine how many

         20  individuals from the community are employed.  But I

         21  will say that most of the companies like to hire

         22  locally.  So the numbers are going to be

         23  significant.  I don't think that we're missing a lot

         24  of the employment opportunities for zone residents

         25  because it's almost a spirit or unwritten mandate
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          2  when employment opportunities come up being in East

          3  Brooklyn and suffering on the misery index of

          4  unemployment and poverty, we try to find individuals

          5  who are willing to work.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yeah, but the key

          7  is that you're $40,000 short of being able to

          8  document that.

          9                 MR. WILKINS:  That would be correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And that it's

         11  just an assumption, you know.  A business is an

         12  area, they're going to hire in an area and things of

         13  that nature.  So, now you say you haven't received

         14  the contract.  What is your contract fiscal year,

         15  normally?

         16                 MR. WERBER:  Starts July 1.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  July 1.  Okay.

         18  And you haven't received your contracts?

         19                 MR. WERBER:  We have not received our

         20  contracts and because of the structure of how

         21  administrative funding is now divided you don't know

         22  the exact amount that your contract will be. There

         23  is a set pool of money for administrative funding

         24  which is set, I believe, at $2.3 million for the

         25  entire state to administer 72 zones.  That amount
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          2  has not changed over the last two to three years

          3  although the number of zones has increased.  So,

          4  you're basically spreading that money across a

          5  larger and larger number of administrative offices.

          6                 In addition to which, starting two

          7  years ago, the state implemented what they call a

          8  performance- based funding scenario so to speak, and

          9  measured certain deliverables.  So, there was, on

         10  top of what was previously a just evenly divided

         11  amount of money, an extra layer of performance-

         12  based contracting.  So now you know you're going to

         13  get something in that neighborhood but it could be a

         14  little less it could be a little more.  So, you're

         15  basically operating now through the first quarter of

         16  the contract period with no contract and not knowing

         17  totally what that amount is going to be.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, where is

         19  your revenue coming to float that first quarter?

         20                 MR. WERBER:  A very good question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I mean you don't

         22  have to --

         23                 MR. WERBER:  I can only answer for

         24  greater Jamaica and not fully for greater Jamaica

         25  either.  Basically we operate other programs, other
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          2  business service programs, we operate individual

          3  projects that are funded as individual projects.

          4  For example, we do an entrepreneurial training

          5  project that's funded completely separate from any

          6  of these other programs.  So, those dollars are

          7  flowing into the organization.  You're basically

          8  borrowing ahead of time to keep operating until the

          9  contract comes through.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And then you pay

         11  the loan back.

         12                 MR. WERBER:  Well, you're kind of

         13  paying yourself back.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Right.

         15                 MR. WERBER:  I'm sure you're all

         16  aware of the difference between a capital expense

         17  and an operating expense.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yeah.

         19                 MR. WERBER:  So, you're kind of

         20  toying with those two general categories of

         21  expenses.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.  So, when do

         23  you normally get the first quarter?  Sometime in the

         24  second quarter, right?

         25                 MR. WILKINS:  It would be more that
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          2  the state pays slow.  Usually the third quarter

          3  we're receiving compensation. But, just to try to

          4  clarify it.  Three years ago, the administrative

          5  funding for the program was  $3.3 million.  It was

          6  58 zones.  They increased and added 17 new zones and

          7  reduced our administrative funding by $1.1 million.

          8  So, everybody took a cross- the- board hit of 32%.

          9  And we're doing more work.

         10                 To submit to you today redesignation

         11  of zone as analysis, you need GIS and Urban Planning

         12  and that type of sophistication to go into it.  In

         13  addition to that, we have to create a development

         14  policy which is graduated to a development plan.

         15  The sophistication now of having companies certified

         16  is difficult.  It's challenging.  There's a course-

         17  benefit analysis that has to be done on the front

         18  side.  So, there are more and more challenges for us

         19  to embrace this program which, at the end of the

         20  day, there are significant incentives for the

         21  businesses but no one really understands what we're

         22  dealing with in the trenches without resources.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well that's why

         24  we have to come out there and see what you're doing

         25  and how you're doing it because I would hate to say
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          2  that the state does not want to see this be

          3  successful but in most programs like I believe that

          4  Council Member Vann mentioned and Hum will testify

          5  the devil's in the details. Also, built- in failure

          6  in contracts is in the details.

          7                 The thing is that we have to make

          8  sure, to the best of our ability, that we take a

          9  look and find out where the built- in failure is

         10  because if you have increased the zones and

         11  decreased the allotment, it just doesn't pan out.

         12  And then on top of that you have more of a mandate

         13  imposed upon you like unfunded mandate. It just

         14  doesn't work and you wind up doing what greater

         15  Jamaica's doing and those individuals that don't

         16  have the resources to leverage that until they get

         17  their first quarter will not be able to measure up

         18  when the reporting system catches up with them and

         19  says shows us where do documentation A, B, C, D and

         20  E was done.  I don't think anybody here would like

         21  to see that happen in their district or in the City.

         22    That's something that I would suggest that we take

         23  a look at and I will take it up with the Members of

         24  the Committee and with the appropriate individuals

         25  and the Speaker.

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 MR. ANDERSON:  If I may add a couple

          3  of points. Through the contracts we're also under

          4  review where reports are given to the Empire State

          5  Development Corporation who administrates the empire

          6  zones statewide.  Those reports can include its own

          7  annual report which you could see year to year where

          8  there's growth.

          9                 There are also meetings with zone

         10  administrative boards.  Each zone has community

         11  members and council members as well as the agency

         12  heads that will meet at least twice a year to go

         13  over how well the local administrating agency,

         14  whether it be the Staten Island EDC or Jamaica, in

         15  order to go through that.  So there's a period of

         16  review and types of discussions that go on and

         17  what's happening in the zone that are recorded in

         18  minutes under the zone administrative boards that

         19  could be given to your office. Zone annual reports

         20  which could also be given to your office.

         21                 In regard to the employment, I'd like

         22  to add that it's not just important to tally up the

         23  jobs that are created by a business that you certify

         24  in the empire zone.  It's what the economic impact

         25  that business has on that strip.  I can tell you in
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          2  my area, if I looked at Forest Avenue and went back

          3  five years and there was no Home Depot in this

          4  particular area, there was limited jobs and

          5  commercial opportunity going on.  Bringing in a Home

          6  Depot and making that capital investment in creating

          7  their jobs which would be x amount of jobs five or

          8  six years later if I went down that same area strip,

          9  there are quantifiable jobs that are going to zone

         10  residents.  To the pizzerias, the gas stations and

         11  all the ancillary type businesses that the affect of

         12  attracting these businesses into the area.

         13                 As we decide or look at, as a local

         14  administrator, to come to the zone administrative

         15  board to designate a separate areas, we take a lot

         16  of factors in account.  Where do we see the

         17  development and what type of industries do we want

         18  to attract? Which ones do we successful attract?

         19                 In Staten Island there are many

         20  complications.  Lack of turn- key space,

         21  infrastructure problems.  You need these incentives

         22  for these companies to come in that may build a Home

         23  Depot or if it's a chocolate manufacturer that has

         24  been a native to Staten island and grew and had many

         25  opportunities to go with the industry and south for
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          2  cheaper employment cost, labor costs to remain

          3  because they cared for the character of where they

          4  were and their labor force and were able to build

          5  200,000 square foot facility and remain in New York

          6  City and the empire zone centers had a major

          7  effective factor into that.

          8                 So, in the development of those type

          9  of businesses that are attracted, the effect or the

         10  quantifiable effect on the labor and the zone

         11  residents employment also has to be somehow

         12  incorporated in that.  And that could also be

         13  something that maybe the Labor Department can

         14  produce a report.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I understand.

         16  Okay.  Council Member Gerson:

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you Mr.

         18  Chair.  Just very briefly- well actually first I

         19  wanted to ask the representative of the zone which

         20  includes the chocolate manufacturer where are the

         21  samples?

         22                 Seriously, you referred to an

         23  industrial Ombudsman area.  What is that?

         24                 MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Under the

         25  auspices of Carl Hum, as well as they have
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          2  designated industrial business zones, they also

          3  identified an area where they did not make it a full

          4  industrial business zone because it's an area where

          5  M- 1 industrial properties are in but there's an

          6  encroachment of residential growth.  Rather than

          7  give it a full industrial business zone designation,

          8  they made it an Ombudsman area where they, through a

          9  bid process, have an administrator target this

         10  particular area which in this case which would be on

         11  Staten Island from, if you were to look at the map,

         12  area 2, 3 and 4 and areas where we have New York

         13  container terminal and industrial properties where

         14  we would be funded by the City to go out and see

         15  what infrastructure improvements we could make in

         16  that area?  How do we help and identify the problems

         17  for those particular businesses without- the

         18  difference too is that we don't have the added

         19  incentive of a full industrial business zone at this

         20  point.  However that could be changed in the future.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You don't get

         22  the tax credit?

         23                 MR. ANDERSON:  We don't get the tax

         24  credit, however, that the businesses do get this

         25  added service from the City-
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And the

          3  service being-

          4                 MR. ANDERSON:  Identifying programs

          5  for them or identifying problems with infrastructure

          6  that they may have.  It's just a step below their

          7  designation as an industrial business zone. But it's

          8  under the guise of industrial manufacturing agency.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, let me

         10  ask you gentlemen, taking a leave from that.  In

         11  general, how important is infrastructure development

         12  as part of your work in these zones in terms of

         13  identifying and spearheading your physical changes

         14  on the ground to accommodate businesses.  Is that an

         15  important part of what you do and are you

         16  sufficiently funded for that?

         17                 MR. WERBER:  Most of that work

         18  actually comes under our work as industrial business

         19  service providers.  That is our work that is funded

         20  through Carl Hum's office.  We are responsible for

         21  going out into these areas and looking at their

         22  condition, reporting the condition, trying to

         23  ameliorate any problems. Infrastructure becomes

         24  very, very, very important to a lot of companies for

         25  a lot of different reasons for each his own.
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          2  Jamaica has drainage issues.  So, we're constantly

          3  trying to address those either on a case by case

          4  basis or broader basis.

          5                 Jamaica has an illegal dumping issue

          6  which is a much more contained issue but still one

          7  that affects some businesses. So, we're constantly

          8  working with the Department of Sanitation, 311 and

          9  other avenues to try to get some of the dumping

         10  address.  We had an issue with lighting in the

         11  tunnels in the underpasses.  So, we try to address

         12  those through the Department of Transportation and

         13  succeeded in having those lights upgraded so that

         14  these tunnels are not so dismal.

         15                 So this is a big part of our work and

         16  we're constantly out there as people who are on the

         17  ground all the time. It's something we're seeing

         18  constantly and reporting constantly. But, again,

         19  it's not particularly focused or comes out of or

         20  funded by the empire zone programs so much as the

         21  industrial business zone or industrial business

         22  service provider contract.  So, it's slightly

         23  different; it's not an incentive issue.  It is very,

         24  very important however.

         25                 MR. WILKINS:  I would just like to
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          2  add with the Ombudsman piece, it's probably a

          3  significant part of my day.  As you know, it's very

          4  difficult to conduct business in New York City. When

          5  you have a business owner- the complexion of the

          6  business you have the owners or the family because

          7  most companies, whether Fortune 100, 500 or middle

          8  market, there's a family that owns it. Then there

          9  are line workers.  There's not a lot of middle

         10  management.  So, anytime there are problems with the

         11  Department of Sanitation, Department of Traffic,

         12  Department of Buildings, we identify and become an

         13  advocate for the business and try to sheppard them

         14  through whatever city agency they're dealing with.

         15  So that's one of the vital roles that we play.

         16                 As it relates to infrastructure, a

         17  lot of time there will be projects that will be

         18  rolled out in our catchment area in which we have to

         19  become the conduit to communicate what's happening

         20  to the businesses.  If there's reconstruction of

         21  bridges and there are detours and things that are

         22  happening, that affects someone receiving an

         23  inventory and sending it our.  So, we try to

         24  navigate and explain it for them to do it

         25  intelligently so that a business can continue to
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          2  provide the services and create the products that

          3  they do.

          4                 Recently in East Brooklyn, we had the

          5  reconstruction of four bridges and it was designed

          6  that two or three bridges would be down at the same

          7  time.  So, we had to talk to the engineers and tell

          8  them "no way" because you're cutting off Brownsville

          9  to East New York and you're making it too difficult

         10  for trucks to come in and out of the area.  That's

         11  the type of work that we do.

         12                 MR. WERBER:  And if I could add, I

         13  think for all of us, certainly for Greater Jamaica,

         14  we need to see or we do see all of these programs as

         15  part of a basket of assistance programs and funding

         16  streams come from a lot of different places.  We're

         17  doing tremendous infrastructure improvement work on

         18  the Southshore Boulevard underpass.  We're doing

         19  improvement work to do what we call the Archer

         20  Avenue Extension to improve traffic flow that will

         21  be going to and from the new JFK Airtrain  All of

         22  that is federal and MTA money, for example.

         23                 But all of this has to work together.

         24    The empire zone credits, the industrial business

         25  zone assistance that we give, the entrepreneurial

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  assistance, the referrals to Workforce 1 career

          3  centers to hire local people, the infrastructure

          4  work that our organizations are doing through other

          5  funding streams.  All of these things work together

          6  and it is difficult to see each of them in

          7  isolation.  Well, it's not difficult to see them

          8  each in isolation but it's wonderful when you start

          9  to see how they go together.  That's how you get the

         10  greatest benefit from these programs.  Seeing them

         11  as strategic partners, so to speak, of each other

         12  and feeding each other for economic growth.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I just think

         14  that sometimes now on a citywide basis in terms of

         15  citywide economic development policies we have not

         16  sufficiently emphasized infrastructure and sector-

         17  based investments and we've put all our, in the

         18  past, maybe a lot of emphasis on giving corporations

         19  tax breaks and tax credits on a business by business

         20  basis and not emphasize enough making the

         21  infrastructure more enticing and more inviting.  It

         22  sounds to me from what you're saying on the level of

         23  the empire zones that perhaps we should also add in

         24  a bit of a greater focus and with that maybe a

         25  degree of greater resources for you to spearhead and
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          2  undertake these very important infrastructure needs.

          3    This is something I look forward to continuing to

          4  discuss.  Perhaps as we get out with our Chair to

          5  visit the different sites.

          6                 MR. ANDERSON:  If I could just- in

          7  the Zone Annual Report I mentioned before, one of

          8  the components of the reporting is how many dollars

          9  are spent by the municipality in infrastructure in

         10  each of the individual zones.  So, that could have a

         11  lot of information for you in there too.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well thank

         13  you all very much.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You're welcome.

         15                 Okay.  Well, I want to thank you

         16  gentlemen for testifying this morning.  Give my best

         17  to Mr. Tally.  I happen to know Greater Jamaica very

         18  well and I hope to know the other development

         19  corporations as well.  And that's we're going to get

         20  out there and thank you for coming.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  We could

         22  visit their chocolate factory?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  The

         24  Economic Development Committee is adjourned.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 12:20 p.m.)
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